
Council Meeting 
February 9, 2011 

Page 18 
 

The Claremont City Council held a meeting on Wednesday, February 9, 2011, in the Council 
Chambers of City Hall. 
 
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Cutts at 6:30 p.m. 
 
Members of the Council present were: 
 
Ward III Councilor Nicholas Koloski 
Assistant Mayor Andrew Austin 
Mayor Deborah Cutts 
At-Large Councilor Kyle Messier 
At-Large Councilor Thomas Burnham 
 
Absent:   
 
At-Large Councilor Christopher Lewis 
At-Large Councilor Adam Burke 
Ward II Councilor Keith Raymond 
Ward I Councilor Victor Bergeron 
 
Also present were:   
 
Guy Santagate, City Manager 
Jane Taylor, City Solicitor 
 
Mayor Cutts said the absences were excused and a quorum was present. 
 
MAYOR’S NOTES 
 
 Stevens High School Student Council Update 
 
Mayor Cutts said the students are at the State of NH Student Council Commission meeting.   
 
REPORT OF THE SECRETARY 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Koloski and seconded by Mr. Austin to accept the minutes of 
the January 5 and 12, 2011, City Council meetings. 
 
Roll Call Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
 
APPOINTMENT TO BOARDS AND COMMITTEES 
 
None 
 
 
 



Council Meeting 
February 9, 2011 

Page 19 
 

CITIZEN’S FORUM 
 
Mayor Cutts said Citizen’s Forum was early so she opened it up and would continue it later if 
people wanted to speak.  
 
Rusty Fowler, Ward 3, congratulated and thanked the Public Works Department for the work 
done over the last couple of weeks.  He said they have done a tremendous job and worked hard.  
He asked Public Works Director Bruce Temple to relay that information to his staff. 
 
Steve Raymond, Ward 1, said in reference to the sidewalks that it takes two days for him to clear 
out his place and he doesn’t have anything compared to the work that the City has to do.  He 
agreed with Mr. Fowler that Public Works has done a good job. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

Snow Removal Emergency Funding to be Charged to the 2011 Tax Rate 
 
Mr. Santagate said that a year and a half ago two people were laid off from Public Works (PW).  
On Tuesdays and Thursdays there are two less people to plow because they are working at the 
Transfer Station and if they need to bury someone, it takes more people away from plowing.  
They have had fewer resources and we have level funded four of the last five years.  He has 
heard that the City’s taxes are too high, so we have slim budgets.  PW is doing everything they 
can, but they don’t have the resources to remove the snow as quickly as people would like.  
When a storm comes, we hope to get the roads done in the first 24 hours.  If that goes well, then 
the second and possibly the third day we start on the sidewalks and then we do snow removal 
after that.  But, that is not acceptable to some people.  We do try to get to the schools as soon as 
we can.  We have kept the City taxes to a minimum.  We will ask for a consensus of the Council 
to give the City $140,000 for snow plowing and removal.  That will be about 18 cents on the tax 
rate.  With the Council’s okay, we will take action to do a better job of removing the snow.  Even 
though taxes have been the number one concern, that has changed due to the snow.  If the funds 
are not needed, we won’t use them. 
 
Mr. Austin asked Public Works Director Bruce Temple for a breakdown of how he would use 
the money.  Mr. Temple said Public Works has 28 people in the field with one out on medical 
leave leaving 27.  If it snows on Tuesday, two people are covering the Transfer Station; we plow 
our cemeteries, as well as St. Mary’s cemetery; one person shovels the stairways around the 
pedestrian bridge as well as other stairways; Wednesday is city-wide trash pickup day (done by 
the Transfer Station people); everyday 2 to 3 people are assigned to sanitary sewer issues (last 
year there were over 500 sanitary sewer flushings); those same people also do pump station 
plowing.  We had only one reportable violation last year with respect to sanitary overflow, so in 
order to maintain our good track record, we don’t want to take away from that resource.  There 
are 16 plow routes to take care of 120 miles of roads.  Most routes take 3-4 hours to do.  They 
clear out 435 fire hydrants along with the help of the Fire Department.  We use less sand because 
clean-up in the spring is tough on the street sweeper.  We try to plow and treat roads within 12 to 
15 hours of a snow fall.  Within 24 hours we try to have the roads plowed, pushed back and 
treated.  After that we plow sidewalks, the municipal lots and the parking garage.  There are two 



Council Meeting 
February 9, 2011 

Page 20 
 

sidewalk machines (a third one can be used in an emergency).  Within 48 hours of the storm, we 
pick up snow.  While this is going on, we are still running the water department, cemetery 
department and still maintaining the equipment.  When the salt gets delivered, it gets dumped in 
the yard and then we have to move it into the salt shed.  We had 350,000 gallons of water lost 
due to a main break on Sullivan Street today.  There was 200 feet of road lost.  It was a 1920 cast 
iron pipe.  PW burned 5,800 gallons diesel fuel in January.  We have budgeted for 2,500 tons of 
salt at $66 per ton.  He keeps 500 tons in reserve for November/December.  The first roads to be 
plowed are Charlestown Road, Washington and North Streets and then we plow the school bus 
routes.  The big snowblower was broken which created problems.  We have used 2,400 regular 
manhours and 1100 overtime manhours plowing the streets in January.  We have used 2,000 tons 
of salt and also used 1,000 tons of sand, which is used on the 10 to 12 miles of gravel roads.  In 
addition there have been 3,400 truck hours.  The request before the Council is to be able to hire 
independent truckers and plowers for snow removal at night; someone from PW will manage 
them; Police Department will help with traffic control.  Costs run $7,000 to $8,000 per storm.   
 
Mr. Austin thanked Mr. Temple for clearing the roads down to the black top.  He asked if the 
$140,000 was to cover a budget shortfall.  Mr. Temple said PW is on budget.  Historically there 
are 16-18 call-out events per year which comes to the $140,000. 
 
Mr. Burnham asked if using this one time would help Public Works to catch up.  Mr. Temple 
said the money would be used to clear up this snow before the next storm.  Since January 1, they 
have been out 12 times. 
 
Mr. Koloski said he would like to hear from constituents before making a decision.   
 
Mr. Santagate said he is asking for consensus from the Council to go ahead and start spending 
the money and to come back in March for a formal vote.   
 
Mr. Burnham said this has probably been the toughest year for snow.  This is emergency funding 
to take care of the snow. 
 
Ms. Messier said she is hearing that snow has accumulated and people can’t see around the 
snowbanks.  The sidewalks are an issue.  People want the snow picked up.  She would be in 
favor of this.  
 
Mr. Austin asked about using the money if there is no more snow.  Mr. Temple said that snow 
pick up would continue, but he may not have people working overtime to do it.  Mr. Temple 
noted they took about 800 tons of snow out of the Bluff area today.  Mr. Austin asked if any of 
the money is already committed.  Mr. Temple said he is not committed to any outside contractor.  
If Council approves the money, he will start the process.  Mr. Austin asked about appropriating 
the money for an emergency.  Mayor Cutts asked about the need for a public hearing.  Ms. 
Taylor said 48 hours notice is required for an emergency meeting under Council Rules and a 
public hearing would be required.   
 
Mr. Koloski said he does not feel comfortable adding 18 cents to tax rate by general consensus.  
Mr. Santagate said that he won’t go ahead without Council consensus tonight; with it he would 



Council Meeting 
February 9, 2011 

Page 21 
 

start the process and may hire someone right away and then come back to the March meeting for 
formal approval.  Mr. Koloski said he would rather be called in for a special meeting to make 
this decision.  Mr. Santagate said the process takes time and the sooner it gets started, the sooner 
we would know if anyone is available to do it.   
 
Mr. Austin asked about the consensus tonight changing the tax rate.  Mr. Santagate said we 
would be uncomfortable going ahead without Council consensus.  We want to address it as soon 
as we can. 
 
Ms. Messier asked how much 18 cents on the tax rate would be for a $150,000 home.  Ms. 
Walter estimated $20.  Ms. Messier agreed that Mr. Koloski made a good point about there being 
so few Councilors in attendance and she asked the question about having another meeting soon 
as timeliness is important. 
 
Mayor Cutts said that each complaint that she has gotten has been shared with the City Manager.  
She thinks Public Works does an amazing job.  She appreciated the information presented by Mr. 
Temple and said that it is important to think about the safety of the staff in terms of number of 
hours worked.  She is in favor of consensus.   
 
Mr. Burnham said Council needs to support staff.   
 
Mr. Koloski said he receives more complaints about taxes than snow.  Consensus of five is still a 
gamble.  
 
Mayor Cutts said action tonight is for the Council to vote for or against consensus; Mr. Santagate 
will put a plan together and then come back in March or earlier, if needed, for a vote to spend the 
money. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Burnham and seconded by Mr. Austin to give consensus for the 
$140,000 for emergency funding for snow pickup. 
 
Roll Call Vote:  Motion carried 4-1 with Mr. Koloski voting no. 
 
CITIZEN’S FORUM (Continued) 
 
Rusty Fowler, Ward 3, said in Concord that the 2-lane roads (going in each direction) are down 
to 1 ½ lanes due to the snow and that cars manage to move on them.  He asked if other cities are 
getting these complaints or is it just Claremont.  If it is just Claremont, “chill out.”   
 
Steve Raymond, Ward 1, talked about maintaining the back roads when the roads start to thaw 
(i.e. East Green Mountain Road).   
 

Winterfest Month  
 
Stan Woodman, President Arrowhead Recreation Club, passed out a packet about Winterfest.  
 



Council Meeting 
February 9, 2011 

Page 22 
 

Scott Hausler, Parks & Recreation Director, said Winterfest activities run the month of February. 
 
Mr. Woodman said it is a collaboration between Parks and Recreation, Arrowhead and the 
Chamber of Commerce.  He talked about Winterfest events and handed out a schedule of events 
and a list for help that is needed for the cardboard sled race. 
 
Mr. Hausler said the Arrowhead Recreation Club is awesome.  He talked about events including 
the father/daughter dance at the Zotto Gym and the Twin State Valley Basketball Tournament. 
 

Resolution 2011-8 Enter Into Multi-Year Lease Purchase Agreement for Highway and 
Utility Equipment – Public Hearing 

 
Mary Walter, Finance Director said that last year no utility vehicles were replaced.  This year a 
bucket loader, bobcat, skid steer, backhoe loader and an asphalt roller are to be replaced.  She 
was able to get a better price for the fire truck (that was approved last month), so it is included 
here as well.  This will help police vehicle leasing also.  The blended rate is 3.41%.  The money 
is in the budget.  The lease agreements have a non-appropriation clause. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Austin and seconded by Ms. Messier to adopt Resolution 2011-
8 Enter Into Multi-Year Lease Purchase Agreement for Highway and Utility Equipment. 
 
Mr. Austin read the resolution into the record. 
 
Mayor Cutts opened the public hearing.  No one spoke.  She closed it. 
 
Roll Call Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
 

Resolution 2011-9 Enter Into Multi-Year Lease Purchase Agreement for Police Fleet 
Replacement – Public Hearing 

 
Mr. Koloski asked how many cruisers.  Police Chief Alex Scott said this was for five line cars.  
Mr. Koloski asked if they would be the same style as the current cruisers.  Chief Scott said yes, 
Chevy Impala. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Koloski and seconded by Mr. Austin to adopt Resolution 2011-
9 Enter Into Multi-Year Lease Purchase Agreement for Police Fleet Replacement. 
 
Mr. Koloski read the resolution into the record. 
 
Mayor Cutts opened the public hearing.  No one spoke.  She closed it. 
 
Roll Call Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
 

Social Services Distribution 
 
Postponed. 



Council Meeting 
February 9, 2011 

Page 23 
 

 
Ordinance 519 Outdoor Wood-Fired Hydronic Heaters – First Reading  

 
This proposed change amends Article IX to Chapter 5 of the Claremont City Code to add 
definitions of commercial and residential units, limit operation of residential heaters during 
summer months and require properly functioning spark arresters on all units. 
 
Enactment of this Ordinance will clarify the existing ordinance and address concerns regarding 
air quality during those months when air dispersion of smoke emitted from these heaters is 
problematic. 
 
Fire Chief Peter Chase said this is the same amendment to the ordinance that came before 
Councilors in October.  It covers outdoor wood boilers that are 350,000 Btus or less with a 
summer operating restriction from May 15 to September 15.  The City recommends passing this. 
 
Mr. Austin said he requested to bring this back based on further information received.  It is a 
complicated issue.   
 
There was some discussion about revising the ordinance to exclude rural areas.  Chief Chase said 
in order to enforce that type of amendment, we need very clear guidelines on defining a rural 
area.  Wood boiler manufacturers recommend not using these units solely for heating water. 
 
Mr. Austin said based on information received and on the hardship this has caused the Spragues, 
he is inclined to vote for the ordinance even though it may cause a hardship to Mr. LeClair who 
is a farmer.  He asked about enforcement and fines.  Ms. Taylor said there are violation 
provisions already in our local Code that are enforceable.  Police Chief Alex Scott agreed.   
 
Mr. Koloski said he can appreciate the hardship for Mr. LeClair, but there is a line between 
health-related issues and hardship.  To him, what was originally brought before the Council was 
health-related.  Ms. Messier agreed that it is a public health issue and a reasonable limitation. 
 
Chief Chase said that we have an ordinance for outdoor wood boilers and this is an amendment 
to restrict when they can be used. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Austin and seconded by Ms. Messier to adopt Ordinance 519 
Outdoor Wood-Fired Hydronic Heaters. 
 
Mr. Austin read the explanation of proposed action into the record. 
 
Roll Call Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
 

Ordinance 520 Zoning Maps 1 and 2-Correction – First Reading  
 
The portion of the City bounded from Tyler Street and Union Street to Summer Street, Oak 
Street, Franklin Street, and Main Street, including Central Street, Sullivan Street, Mulberry 
Street, Walnut Street, School Street, Trinity Street and Pearl Street was reclassified by petition of 



Council Meeting 
February 9, 2011 

Page 24 
 

the residents of the area from Residential II District (R-2) to Professional Residential District 
(PR) and adopted by Ordinance #236 on December 14, 1983.  This zone was incorrectly 
designated as a Rural Residential (RR) District on Zoning Maps #1 and #2 as re-adopted in 2007.  
This amendment to Zoning Maps #1 and #2 corrects an error in the zoning maps.  It does not 
change the zoning district for any parcel.   
 
Enactment of this Ordinance will adopt technical corrections to Zoning Maps #1 and #2. 
 
Nancy Merrill, Planning and Development Director, introduced Tracey Thibault, the new City 
Planner.  This ordinance is to correct an error in the zoning maps that were adopted in 2007.   
 
Mayor Cutts clarified that this doesn’t change anything, it just corrects a mistake made on paper 
and does not change the zoning district of any parcel. 
 
A motion was made by Ms. Messier and seconded by Mr. Koloski to adopt Ordinance 520 
Zoning Maps 1 and 2-Correction. 
 
Ms. Messier read the explanation of proposed action into the record. 
 
Roll Call Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
 

Ordinance 521 Water Department Rate Schedule – First Reading  
 
The purpose of this proposal is to clarify the water rate schedule for public hydrants.  Water rates 
for public hydrants have historically been calculated on an annual basis but billed semi-annually 
to the fire department.  Ordinance #505, adopted in 2010, combined public and private hydrants 
in one table since they are all billed semi-annually.  The intent to streamline the water rate 
schedule resulted in an over-charge for public fire hydrants.  The proposed ordinance corrects 
this. 
 
Enactment of this Ordinance will correct the water rate schedule adopted by Ordinance #505 for 
public hydrants.  All other sections of Ordinance #505 remain unchanged. 
 
Ms. Walter said that public fire hydrants are paid for by the Fire Department annually, but when 
Ordinance 505 was written, private and public hydrants were lumped all together and charged 
semi-annually.  This ordinance breaks out private and public fire hydrants. 
 
Mr. Koloski asked how many hydrants there are.  Ms. Walter said 435.  
 
A motion was made by Mr. Austin and seconded by Mr. Burnham to adopt Ordinance 521 
Water Department Rate Schedule. 
 
Mr. Austin read the explanation of proposed action into the record. 
 
Roll Call Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
 



Council Meeting 
February 9, 2011 

Page 25 
 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 
Mr. Santagate said that the Granite State Ambassadors recently visited Claremont.  They are 
“NH’s Information Specialists” and they represent the state.  The Greater Claremont Chamber of 
Commerce and the Planning and Development Department worked at getting them here.  They 
were very impressed with the community.   
 
Mr. Santagate said that Red River Computer volunteered to make technology recommendations 
for the City and the schools that may save us money.  That was delayed a little by the schools, 
but is now moving forward.     
 
Ms. Walter said the water and sewer bills are going out this week.  The meters are usually read in 
January and July with the bills going out in February and August.  The goal is to read meters 
every 6 months, but that can vary.  Last year the August bill covered 5.3 months.  This bill 
covers 7.1 months and covers summer/fall months, so the bills may be higher.  A message will 
be posted on the City’s website.   
 
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS AND DIRECTIVES 
 
Mayor Cutts said that previously Councilors had requested bringing in the State Representatives 
and Senator.  She is still working on that. 
 
Mr. Burnham said that parking on Pleasant Street needs to be looked at.  One car was parked in 
the same spot for eight hours.   
 
Mr. Austin talked about the New Community Center grant writers asking about a letter of 
support from the Council.  He said he had talked to Mayor Cutts earlier who said she believed 
there was a resolution done in the past.  Mayor Cutts said she supports that group.  She plans to 
let them know that if they want an updated letter of support, they are welcome to come to the 
Council.  Mr. Austin said the grant writers are new.  This would be a recreation center versus a 
community center.  Mr. Austin was told that if we furnish the grant writer with the information 
of what we want, he’s pretty sure he can find the grants.  Mayor Cutts said that if that group 
invited Mr. Austin to participate, she would encourage him to do so.   
 
Mayor Cutts asked Mr. Santagate to talk to Chief Scott in reference to parking on Pleasant Street.  
Mr. Santagate said we can put it on as a future agenda item.  We know we need to grow the 
downtown.  We will talk with the Chamber and the downtown merchants. 
 
Mr. Koloski said he had previously requested an update from the Planning office on marketing 
and moving the City forward.  Mayor Cutts said the plan is for the department to make a report.  
Mr. Santagate said that last month he had passed out 4-5 articles talking about Claremont’s 
accomplishments and those were free.  The real part of growth is that Claremont’s infrastructure 
is already in place.  He talked about the grant to study downtown business development.  
Marketing means different things to different people.  He talked about the open space ordinance 
committee and being reluctant to do things that the City thought were doable (i.e. reduce cost of 
infrastructure with cluster housing). There is resistance in the community to that.  He wouldn’t 



Council Meeting 
February 9, 2011 

Page 26 
 

mind revisiting some of those issues and how to draw more businesses to Claremont.  The City 
has no role in determining what kind of business opens or where.  The issue of marketing gets 
into whole array of things.  He would like to cover that in depth.  One thing you have to do is 
stay consistent in the market.  Infrastructure is a big reason to move here.  Zoning is an issue.  He 
wants to have a comprehensive discussion about marketing, but he wants to make sure he covers 
the areas Mr. Koloski wants.  Mr. Koloski said that he has heard minor things, but is not able to 
go directly to the Planning office, so it needs to be an open discussion.  Mr. Koloski said he talks 
to businesses and some of the feedback he has received is:  suggestion to move the reception 
desk to the upper floor of the Visitors Center (VC); all advertising material at the VC seems to be 
outdated.  Mr. Santagate said the Planning office does code enforcement as well as economic 
development.  He talked about code enforcement issues and that we are criticized on code 
enforcement, but we haven’t been in court for those issues in years.  For complicated companies, 
he has offered weekly meetings.  If there are simple things, we’ll fix them.  If there are ways to 
improve it, we will.  We need to have a comprehensive discussion about marketing. 
 
Mayor Cutts summarized Mr. Koloski’s request that the Council is looking for feedback of what 
we have accomplished and where we are headed.  We are doing a better job at maintaining the 
website.  She asked Mr. Santagate to have Planning look at the advertising material and to clean 
up where we can.  Mr. Koloski said he would be willing to help out.   
 
Mr. Santagate talked about the state budget and the possibility of downshifting to the 
community.  If they cut local aid again, we will be faced with cuts.  We have had to pick up a 
bigger percentage of the retirement.  He is keeping eye on Concord.  We are okay if they leave 
us alone.  If there are small things we can correct, we will. 
 
Bernie Folta, Ward 3, said there are two kinds of marketing:  external marketing and internal 
marketing, which is marketing actions and plans of government to constituents.  He suggested 
marketing to constituents with a weekly blog from the City Manager or a 15-minute CCTV show 
giving a status report every week or two.  It would help to hear from the City Manager at times 
other than just during the City Manager’s Report.  Part of marketing is repetition.  He urged 
more internal marketing using contemporary tools.  He considers Mr. Santagate a good teacher 
and he learns from him. 
 
Mr. Koloski asked if Claremont can register motor vehicles online as is done in Charlestown.  
Mr. Santagate said he will check it out. 
 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 
 Master Plan Committee 
 
Mayor Cutts said that individual chapters are going to the Planning Board. 
 
 Claremont 250th Anniversary Committee 
 
None 



Council Meeting 
February 9, 2011 

Page 27 
 

 
CONSULTATION WITH LEGAL COUNSEL 
 
None 
 
NON-PUBLIC SESSION, RSA 91-A:3,II(a) – PERSONNEL (CITY MANAGER) 
 
At 9:25 p.m. a motion was made by Ms. Messier and seconded by Mr. Austin to go into 
Non-Public Session under RSA 91-A:3,II(a) – Personnel (City Manager) and invite Mr. 
Santagate into the meeting. 
 
Roll Call Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Austin and seconded by Mr. Burnham to seal the minutes until 
unsealed by the City Manager. 
 
Motion carried 5-0. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Koloski and seconded by Ms. Messier to exit the non-public 
session. 
 
Motion carried 5-0. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Koloski and seconded by Ms. Messier that the annual City 
Manager’s evaluation resulted in a favorable evaluation. 
 
Motion carried 5-0. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
At 10:30 p.m., a motion was made by Mr. Austin and seconded by Ms. Messier to adjourn. 
 
Motion carried 5-0. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Dorée M. Russell 
Clerk to the Council 


